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® (1550)
[English]

The Chair (Mr. John Brassard (Barrie—Innisfil, CPC)): I'm
going to call this meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 131 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics.

When the meeting adjourned last Tuesday, we were debating an
amendment that had been moved by Mr. Caputo to the motion
moved by Mr. Barrett, as amended.

I'm just going to review for everybody where we are. The motion
as amended is the following:

Given that:

The Prime Minister recently appointed Mark Carney as the chair of the Liberal
Party's Task Force on Economic Growth;

Mark Carney is the chair of Brookfield Corporation, a multinational investment
management company that owns Sagen, the second-largest mortgage insurer in
Canada;

On the first day of Mark Carney's appointment, the Liberal government an-
nounced major changes to the regulation of mortgage insurance in Canada, al-
lowing for bigger and longer loans;

This tremendously benefited Brookfield, evidenced by their stock price hitting a
six-month high; and that Jenni Byrne, who is the well-known special adviser to
Pierre Poilievre as well as a registered lobbyist for grocery multinational
Loblaws at a time that the Poilievre Conservatives are voting against every Lib-
eral government measure to make grocery prices more affordable for Canadians;
Jenni Byrne, who regularly attends caucus meetings and daily morning strategy
calls, is not listed as an employee in Pierre Poilievre's office to shield her from
public disclosure and conflict of interest laws; Jenni Byrne established a second
lobbying firm working from the same office as Jenni Byrne + Associates to cir-
cumvent federal lobbying laws;

That, pursuant to Standing Order 108(1)(a), the committee call upon Mark Car-
ney and Jenni Byrne to testify before the committee in relation to this apparent
conflict of interest for two hours each within 14 calendar days of the adoption....

Then, there was an amendment moved by Mr. Caputo.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan (Chateauguay—Lacolle, Lib.): Chair,
on a point of order, I don't see “apparent conflict of interest” in that
last paragraph. I have the clerk's track changes.

The Chair: I appreciate your bringing that up, Mrs. Shanahan.

This is actually what's on record as to what Mr. Barrett had said.
What was sent out to the committee—if you recall, there was a bit
of confusion there—was not actually what was said. This was actu-
ally said, and it is in the blues, so that's what I'm reflecting in this
sentence here.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Can you give us that last sentence
again?

The Chair: It's “That pursuant to Standing Order 108(1)(a), the
committee call upon Mark Carney and Jenni Byrne to testify before
the committee in relation to this apparent conflict of interest for two
hours each, within 14 calendar days of the adoption of the motion.”

That's the motion as amended.

To continue, there was an amendment that was moved by Mr.
Caputo that reads that the motion, as amended, be amended by
deleting the words in.... Effectively, it gets rid of the entire pream-
ble that was there. I'm not going to read through it again because I
just read through it.

He also replaced the words, “That pursuant to Standing Order
108(1)(a), the committee call upon Mark Carney and Jenni Byrne
to testify before the committee for two hours each within 14 calen-
dar days of the adoption of this motion” with the words, “That, pur-
suant to Standing Order 108(1)(a), the committee call upon Mark
Carney to appear for two hours, as well as Jenni Byrne and Gur-
ratan Singh to testify before the committee, for one hour each,
within 14 calendar days of the adoption”.

That's the amendment by Mr. Caputo to the motion as amended
that we're dealing with.

Mr. Darren Fisher (Dartmouth—Cole Harbour, Lib.): I have
a point of order, Mr. Chair.

I'm sure there's probably some type of ability for the chair to pick
up where we left off, but the meeting wasn't suspended. It was ad-
journed. Normally, in the eight and a half years or so that I've been
here, the committee would need to vote to bring that back. If the
meeting was suspended, it would continue. I would just seek some
clarity on your part. I'm sure you probably have the ability to do it,
but I know that there are....

The Chair: Mr. Fisher, I appreciate your bringing that up, and in
anticipation that this question was coming, I did seek guidance
from the clerk as it relates to the rules and procedures of commit-
tees. I'm going to refer to O'Brien and Bosc.

As there's no order paper in committee, there's no precedence
with regard to motions. For the clarity of the committee, I'm going
to read directly what it says:

The idea that committees are “masters of their proceedings” or “masters of their
procedures” is frequently evoked in committee debates or the House. The con-
cept refers to the freedom committees normally have to organize their work as
they see fit and the option they have of defining, on their own, certain rules of
procedure that facilitate their proceedings.
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In the event that there is a situation where there is an adjourn-
ment and the debate still continues, in the rules and procedures it
says what happens at the next committee meeting. The committee
is under no obligation to resume the debate on this motion. If the
debate is not resumed on the motion and a new motion is moved
and also adjourned at the subsequent meeting, it will be up to com-
mittee to decide which motion will have precedence over the other
and which debate should be resumed.

If the debate should be resumed, how should it be done? When
debate is adjourned—which it was—at the ordinary hour of ad-
journment of the meeting, some committees will agree on a date on
which the debate should be resumed, while others will leave that
decision to the chair, who has the administrative responsibility to
decide “on the agendas for the meeting”. That, again, is from
O'Brien and Bosc, page 1031.

Unless there is an objection... from a member, there is implied
consent from the committee to proceed this way. Should an objec-
tion be raised, the chair will either maintain his or her decision or
leave the decision to the committee. Often, the difference between
the committee resuming debate at its next meeting or not is simply
a matter of possibilities. If a notice has already been published for
the next meeting...and it has.

I'm not sure that this is in relation to this, but I'll continue.

If a notice has already been published for the next meeting and
witnesses are already confirmed to appear, or if something is al-
ready scheduled, such as a consideration of a report or a bill, the
chair may decide to proceed with what is already organized and
scheduled. If—Ilike in today's situation—we are without any wit-
nesses, the chair may decide to put resuming debate on the notice
so that we get to the end of the motion and vote.

This is precisely what I have done.

When no decision has been taken by the committee on the re-
sumption of the debate, and the chair has not placed this item on the
agenda, the member who wishes to resume debate must have a for-
mal motion to that effect. The motion that the committee proceed to
a specific order of business, i.e., resuming and adjourning debate on
the motion moved on whatever date, does not require notice and
must be put to a vote immediately, without debate or amendment.
“If the motion is carried, the committee immediately proceeds to
the 'order' referred to in the motion.” Again, that's O'Brien and
Bosc.

Note, since the motion is still in the hands of the committee, it
need not be on the agenda or on the notice of meeting. To that end,
Speaker Fraser ruled that there is “no procedural impediment to a
committee's dealing with any matter within its mandate at any
meeting of that committee regardless of the stated purpose or pur-
poses of a particular meeting”. That came from December 18,
1989, Mr. Fraser's decision, volume 2, page 593.

This is the part that I think is germane to the question of Mr.
Fisher. It says that in both situations, when debate resumes, the
member who was speaking at the time of adjournment will have the
floor. When, as a consequence of the interruption, a business pre-
scribed by the standing orders of a debate has been adjourned while
a member was speaking, he is entitled on the next occasion to re-

sume adjourned debate and continue with his speech. That's from
Erskine May, 24th edition, 2011, pages 433 and 434.

After reviewing the blues and determining where we were at....
Members will recall that there was a lot of confusion at the end of
the last meeting. I'll go back to the intervention by Mrs. Shanahan.

® (1555)

Mrs. Shanahan concluded her remarks at 18:25. Next on the list
on the amendment was Mr. Caputo, at which point I said, “Go
ahead, Mr. Caputo.” Mr. Fisher then raised a point of order. This is
near the end of the meeting, again, from the blues. We addressed
Mr. Fisher's point of order.

After that, we were dealing with the amendment, and I said to
Mr. Caputo, “You have the floor”. I went back to Mr. Fisher, and
asked, “Does that clarify that for you, Mr. Fisher?”

There was further discussion. Within that discussion, again, Mr.
Simard rose on a point of order, to which I answered. Mr. Barrett
also had a point of order to clarify things. It was at that point, after
Mr. Barrett's point of order, that we adjourned the meeting.

Given the situation that Mr. Caputo did, in fact, have the floor, |
stated that, when debate resumed, the member who was speaking at
the time of the adjournment will have the floor.

It is my decision that Mr. Caputo had the floor when we ad-
journed the meeting. I will go to Mr. Caputo to start, followed by
Ms. Khalid and Mrs. Shanahan.

Go ahead, Mr. Housefather.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: [ have a point of order.

Mr. Anthony Housefather (Mount Royal, Lib.): I have a point
of order.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: I appreciate that you've been very thor-
ough going through it. I feel like that was seven and a half minutes
I'll never get back in my life, but we relived—

The Chair: It's important to understand where we ended up and
where we need to start.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: —the last chaotic minutes of that
meeting.

1 appreciate where you're going with that. Although I don't have
access to routine motions that we generally pass at the beginning of
a committee, I get where you're going with Bosc and Gagnon.
Maybe you should canvass the room to see if people want to con-
tinue with that, because that's the sense that I got from Bosc and
Gagnon. Is it the will of the committee to continue with that de-
bate?

You represent us. You're our voice in the committee, but I would
like to know if everybody's on board with this.
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® (1600)

The Chair: As I stated earlier, there is a provision in here where,
if the meeting is adjourned and no witnesses are to appear, which it
was, and I stated that in the last meeting, it is up to the chair to con-
tinue debate on this by putting on notice that we are continuing de-
bate, which I have done, Mrs. Shanahan.

My expectation is that we are going to continue today debating
this motion, based on the rules that I've interpreted, and that I've
stated. I've sought guidance from the clerk on this as I've said to the
committee already.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Am I out of line by suggesting you
canvass the room on this?

Mr. Anthony Housefather: I have a point of order.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: You know, how you do generally?
The Chair: Yes.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Are people generally...?

The Chair: Who has the point of order? Is it Mr. Housefather?
Mr. Anthony Housefather: It is.

The Chair: Let me deal with the clerk for a second, Mr. House-
father, and then I'll come back to you, sir. Thank you.

® (1600) (Pause)

® (1600)

The Chair: I appreciate your patience on that. I'm glad I did
seek the clerk's guidance. The notice that was published is to re-
sume debate on this.

Mrs. Shanahan, you had a point of order asking me a question.
Now, if you wanted to change and move a motion that is not the
same as what is on notice, you have the right to do that when you
have the floor.

My decision right now is that we are going to Mr. Caputo to re-
sume this meeting. If we go through the list and members have the
floor, then they can move another motion if they want to move to
another area of discussion. You have to be very specific on that.

As it stands right now, we are going to start the debate with Mr.
Caputo. If members feel the need to move a motion after that,
they're certainly well within their rights to do that. That would go to
a vote or be on consent.
® (1605)

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Am I on the speaking list?

Mr. Parm Bains (Steveston—Richmond East, Lib.): I have a
point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: [ have Ms. Khalid after Mr. Caputo, but I have sev-
eral points of order that I need to deal with right now.

I'm going to go to Mr. Housefather and then I have Mr. Barrett
and Mr. Bains.

Go ahead, Mr. Housefather, on a point of order, please.
Mr. Anthony Housefather: Mr. Chair, thank you.

I've been a member for almost nine years now and I've never
seen the agenda come back to a motion the way you did it today.

I acknowledge, of course, sir, that in the rules it's your discretion
if you want to do that. However, I just want to establish that you're
now saying that you will, in the same situation in the future, do ex-
actly what you did today, which is that with any motion or amend-
ment that we are debating when we adjourn, if there are no witness-
es scheduled for the next meeting, you will put that on the agenda.
You will treat it exactly the same way you treated this situation.

The Chair: Thank you for that, Mr. Housefather.

I believe I did clarify my position on this, which was that we did
not have any witnesses, so I used my discretion within the Standing
Orders and the rules of the House to put this motion back on the
agenda to resume debate.

I think I made myself very clear on that, sir.

Thank you.

Mr. Anthony Housefather: Mr. Chair, I'm asking you to con-
firm that you will do the same thing in a future event when the
same situation reproduces itself. That's what I asked.

The Chair: It's a hypothetical, Mr. Housefather, that I can't an-
swer. | just dealt with the situation that was in front of us, and that
is, as I mentioned on Tuesday, that we had no witnesses for today.
There were no witnesses who were going to appear for today's
meeting, so | made the decision to put this motion back on the
agenda.

I'm not going to speak to a hypothetical, and I'm not going to an-
swer a hypothetical question. I'm only dealing with what's in front
of me today, sir.

Thank you.
Mr. Barrett, go ahead on your point of order, please.

Then I have Mr. Bains on a point of order.

Mr. Michael Barrett (Leeds—Grenville—Thousand Islands
and Rideau Lakes, CPC): Just quickly, in response to your ruling
in response to Mrs. Shanahan's question for a new motion to be put
on the floor, the motion in front of the committee has to be dis-
posed of. Is that correct?

The Chair: Hang on a second.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Thank you. I appreciate it.

The Chair: I think I'm pretty clear on it. I just want to make sure
other members are clear on it.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I need to get clear, so thank you.

The Chair: Let me try to clarify this right from the book.
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If a member decides they want to move another motion, then that
motion could be considered a dilatory motion. If I read from the
book on dilatory motions:

...a motion designed to dispose of the original question before the committee, ei-

ther for the time being or permanently. Dilatory motions do not require notice,
nor can they be amended or debated. They are therefore put to a vote immediate-
ly.

If a dilatory motion is accompanied by a condition, it becomes a substantive mo-

tion. It is then subject to the rules on the admissibility of such motions. It also
becomes debatable and amendable.

The main dilatory motions admissible in committee include:
“That the Committee do now adjourn:
If the motion is carried, the committee adjourns immediately to the call of the
Chair.
We've done that before. It continues:
If the motion is defeated, the committee meeting [resumes].
“That the debate be now adjourned”:

A member who moves “That the debate be now adjourned” wishes to temporari-
ly suspend debate under way on a motion or study. If the motion is carried, de-
bate on the motion or study ceases and the committee moves on to other busi-
ness.

That the Committee proceed to [another order of business]”:

[The] motion results in the matter then under consideration by the committee be-
ing replaced by the order of business proposed in the motion. If the motion is
carried, the committee immediately proceeds to the “order” referred to in the
motion.

Motion for the Previous Question
The motion “That this question now be put” is known as the previous question.
In committee, motions for the previous question are inadmissible.

Those are the type of motions that can be moved by a member
when they have the floor.

Right now, as it stands, my decision is that we are continuing
with the meeting that was on notice, including resuming debate on
the motion as amended, and Mr. Caputo has the floor.

Does that clarify it for you, Mr. Barrett?
® (1610)
Mr. Michael Barrett: Okay.
The Chair: [ have Mr. Bains on a point of order.

Mr. Parm Bains: Mr. Chair, in response to your stating that we
didn't have a witness, my understanding is that we did have a wit-
ness. I just wanted some clarification from Madam Clerk if the wit-
ness was approached at all.

The Chair: Madam Clerk is shaking her head no, as I am, Mr.
Bains. We did not—

Mr. Parm Bains: We have an email response from her stating
that she received a witness that was submitted.

The Chair: Hang on.

Mr. Bains, am I to understand that you sent a witness name in
yesterday to the clerk? Is that what you're referring to? We had no
witnesses scheduled for today. Are you suggesting to me that yes-

terday you sent a witness name to the clerk to be a witness at this
committee? Is that what you're saying?

Mr. Parm Bains: Yes.
The Chair: Okay.

You understand the difficulty of getting a witness within 24
hours. You do understand that.

Mr. Parm Bains: Yes, but my understanding was that it was sub-
mitted earlier. I just wanted to clarify when the—

The Chair: We will do our best to get your witness on the list
for next week. I can tell you that we do have witnesses for two
meetings next week, for both scheduled meetings. When the meet-
ing notice is published, you'll see who those witnesses are.

I sure hope members can appreciate the difficulty in sending in a
name a day before a meeting is scheduled and trying to arrange
having that witness appear. I sure hope people can appreciate that.

An hon. member: I thought he submitted it earlier.
An hon. member: Yes. He submitted it earlier.
The Chair: I'm telling you, there was nobody available so....

That ends the points of order. I have a list, and on it I have Mr.
Caputo and then Ms. Khalid. Those are the two I have on the list so
far.

Then I have Mrs. Shanahan—yes, you did put your hand up—
and Mr. Barrett and Mr. Cooper.

I'm putting the book away. Nobody needs this book anymore, I
hope. The book is going away.

We are resuming debate on the amendment as proposed by Mr.
Caputo.

Mr. Caputo, you have the floor. Go ahead, please.

Mr. Frank Caputo (Kamloops—Thompson—Cariboo, CPC):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I've aged a little bit, and maybe grown a bit of a beard, since we
started this meeting.

You know, as common-sense Conservatives, we're always want-
ing to get at the truth. We're always prepared to have people come
to committee, whether they be advisers within our own party or
people who, like Mark Carney, are advising the Liberal govern-
ment. At the end of the day, we have to remember that this is some-
body who not only is advising the Prime Minister but wants to be
the Prime Minister. It's a bit disingenuous for the Liberals to com-
pare apples to oranges and say, well, we want this person, we want
this person and they should all come here. That's not Conservative
logic. Conservatives have no problem with bringing people who
have something to say and something to offer to the debate.

At the end of the day, it's my view that people like Mr. Carney
should be here. He wants to become Prime Minister someday.
That's his prerogative. He wants to advise the Liberal government,
to be the de facto finance minister. That's his prerogative, but at the
end of the day, it's my view that he is in multiple conflicts of inter-
est, not even apparent conflicts of interest. He's in multiple con-
flicts of interest. Let's bring him here to the committee. We have
nothing to hide as Conservatives.

® (1615)
Mr. Darren Fisher: [ have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
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Mr. Frank Caputo: I was almost done.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Mr. Caputo's amendment isn't about remov-
ing. It's about reducing the times for one and adding another per-
son. The motion already speaks to having Mr. Carney.

The Chair: You know I give a lot of latitude on this committee.
I say this every meeting.

Mr. Caputo, 1 don't know whether you were concluding your
comments or not, but go ahead, please. You have the floor.

Mr. Frank Caputo: I had two more words to say, and those
were “thank you”.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Caputo.

I'll go to Ms. Khalid now on the amendment as proposed by Mr.
Caputo.

Ms. Iqra Khalid (Mississauga—Erin Mills, Lib.): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair.

For clarity, that amendment seeks to decrease the time for Jenni
Byrne and add an additional name, Mr. Singh, who is Mr. Jagmeet
Singh's brother, to add another one hour for that person.

I'm just going to say that I am opposed to this amendment. I
think it doesn't really do much justice to the main motion at all and
provides a lot of unfairness.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Khalid.
Mrs. Shanahan, you're on the list, followed by Mr. Barrett.
Go ahead.

[Translation]
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
I have to say that I'm also against Mr. Caputo's amendment.
It's unfair to ask one witness to come for two hours, while we ask
the other two to come for one hour each. It really makes no sense.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Shanahan.
[English]
I have Mr. Barrett next, followed by Mr. Cooper.

Go ahead, Mr. Barrett.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Thanks, Chair.

Look, if this is strictly about the amount of time that witnesses
are appearing for, I think we can resolve that.

It's important that we have Mark Carney come before this com-
mittee. We've seen all of the revelations over the last number of
days about Mr. Carney's string of good luck after taking on this
role. It could be the $2 billion-plus to his friend who operates Tele-
sat. It could be that he has now opened the door for Brookfield to
have discussions on a scheme with $50 billion on pensions, $10 bil-
lion coming—

Mr. Darren Fisher: | have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

This is just on the amendment, not on the main motion.
The Chair: Okay, so....

Mr. Michael Barrett: If they want to get silly with points of or-
der, what are we doing?

Mr. Darren Fisher: I don't want to be here until 7:30.

The Chair: Darren, we give a lot of latitude here. I give you
guys as much latitude as I give them.

He's speaking to the amendment. The amendment says, “That
pursuant to Standing Order 108(1)(a), the committee call upon
Mark Carney to appear for two hours, as well as Jenni Byrne and
Gurratan Singh to testify...for one hour...within 14 calendar days”.
He can speak about the amendment if he wants.

Go ahead, Mr. Barrett. You have the floor.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I understand that they don't want to talk
about giving privileged people, Liberal insiders, positions where
they have all of the power, access to all of Canadians' tax dollars
and none of the accountability that comes along with being a desig-
nated public office holder. I understand that's why they want to ob-
struct this.

Look, if the question is that they want to include people who
aren't Mr. Carney in the motion and who speak at the caucuses of
parties that are represented in the House of Commons, then we
need to add Don Guy. We need to subamend it to add Don Guy. We
need to include in that subamendment Brian Topp. These are feder-
al lobbyists who speak at the caucuses and advise the leaders of the
Liberal Party and the NDP. That's very plain.

If we're having a panel with Mr. Singh, Mr. Topp, Mr. Guy and
Ms. Byrne for two hours together to match the amount of time that
Mr. Carney comes to appear at the committee, we support that so
long as those witnesses testify only after Mr. Carney has appeared
at the committee and we don't just end up with the also-rans instead
of having carbon tax Carney come before the committee. If we
want to talk about fairness, that would be fairness.

I would put a subamendment forward—
® (1620)

The Chair: Okay. I was going to ask if you were going to do
that or not.

Mr. Michael Barrett: The motion needs to be subamended. The
effect of the subamendment is going to be to include Don Guy, Bri-
an Topp and Gurratan Singh with Jenni Byrne on a panel together
and invite them to appear after Mark Carney has appeared.

We're going to have to take the most current copy of the motion
and include this proposal in it, but since we're having a conversa-
tion about fairness, we have Topp and Guy, who run a lobbying
shop. If we want Ms. Byrne, who's not a federal lobbyist, to come
to the committee just because she's a Conservative, we're fine to in-
vite Ms. Byrne.

The Chair: I need you to repeat, again, for the clerk what your
subamendment is proposing, please, Mr. Barrett.
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Mr. Michael Barrett: The subamendment proposes to have Ms.
Jenni Byrne, Mr. Don Guy, Mr. Brian Topp and Mr. Gurratan Singh
appear on a panel together and for them to be invited after Mr. Car-
ney has appeared at the committee.

Look, if the only way that's going to be palatable to other mem-
bers of the committee is if their appearance matches Mr. Carney's
appearance in length, then two hours is fine.

The Chair: Before you comment any further, I want to make
sure that I have the language properly distributed. I'm going to sus-
pend for a couple of minutes because—

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

The Chair: I am going to suspend to make sure that every mem-
ber of the committee has a copy of what Mr. Barrett is proposing,
because I want everyone to be clear on this.

I'm suspending.

¢ (1620 (Pause)

® (1640)
The Chair: Thank you, everyone, for your patience.

I see your hand.

[Translation]

Mr. Villemure, you are now on the speaking list.

Mr. René Villemure (Trois-Riviéres, BQ): All right.
[English]

Mr. Parm Bains: [ have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: I don't see anybody.

Mr. Parm Bains: It's Mr. Bains.

The Chair: Go ahead on your point of order, Mr. Bains.

Mr. Parm Bains: I'm sorry. My camera was off.

The Chair: There you are.

Mr. Parm Bains: [ want to quickly go back to something.

You strongly indicated that we should understand, if we're sub-

mitting names of witnesses.... We only received a response from
Madam Clerk yesterday, but the witness I submitted—

The Chair: I'm sorry, Mr. Bains. What was it in response to? I
need to be clear on that.

Mr. Parm Bains: It's on the witness I recommended.

The Chair: You just said that you got a response from the clerk.
What was the response from the clerk?

Mr. Parm Bains: She acknowledged that she received the wit-
ness yesterday, but it was submitted on September 24 at 5:17 p.m.
That's 216 hours ago. In fact—

The Chair: It's not going to make a difference—
Mr. Parm Bains: I just want to clarify, because—

The Chair: It's not going to make a difference today. We are
where we are.

Mr. Parm Bains: For the record, I wanted to clarify that, Mr.
Chair.

The Chair: I appreciate that, and I'll go back to the clerk after—

Mr. Parm Bains: You strongly indicated to me that 24 hours is
not acceptable. I understand that. I appreciate that. I just want to en-
sure that you know, and that Madam Clerk knows, that 216 hours
ago, I submitted—

The Chair: What I'll do is go back to the clerk. We'll have a dis-
cussion after the meeting is over. I'll get an answer for you, Mr.
Bains.

Thank you.

Mr. Parm Bains: In fact, the witness was number one on the list.
I want to point that out for the record.

Thank you.
The Chair: I appreciate that. Thank you.

Does every member have the subamendment to the amendment?
I have a list. [ have Mr. Barrett and Mr. Cooper.

[Translation]
Mr. Villemure will be next, then Mr. Berthold.

[English]

Mr. Barrett, go ahead on the subamendment to the amendment,
please.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Chair, it was said that it's a question about
fairness.

This subamendment deals with the primary issue, which is to
have carbon tax Carney come before the committee.

It also addresses the desire of Liberal members. They wanted to
have Jenni Byrne come to committee. I suppose that's their
purview. Ms. Byrne has a business under her name and it does zero
federal lobbying. None. Ms. Byme is also not a federal lobbyist,
but they want her to come to committee.

Okay. We agree to invite Ms. Byrne to come to committee and
talk about how she doesn't have any involvement in federal lobby-
ing. If we're doing that—and it's a question about fairness that was
raised by the Liberal members—then we need to have Don Guy
come to committee. I want to tell you why.

The St. Albert Gazette published a Canadian Press article on
September 10, 2024. The title is, “Carney interested in 'doing some-
thing, not being something,' he says of adviser role”. That's the ad-
viser role he has with the Liberal Party.

The Canadian Press story states, “The Liberals called in veteran
strategist Don Guy to give his insights on how to mount a come-
back and go up against Poilievre as they prepare for the election
year.”
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Don Guy is a founding partner of a company called GT and Co,
which, unlike Ms. Byrne's business, has a significant federal lobby-
ing practice. Notable clients include Loblaws—perhaps that's how
it got that fridge money from the Liberals, and Loblaws of course
owns Shoppers Drug Mart—and the Canada Bread company,
which, as we know, did plead guilty to price-fixing during a food
price inflation and cost of living crisis.

With CN Rail, we know the concerns there caused a fracture in
the confidence and supply agreement, which was the coalition with
the NDP. The government seemed to have received a real nudge to
get to binding arbitration. One might wonder if that came from Mr.
Guy, who is a federal lobbyist for CN Rail and also Airbnb, which
the Liberals and the NDP have both accused of making the housing
crisis worse.

These are the clients of the individual, Mr. Guy, who is a federal
lobbyist and who was speaking at the taxpayer-funded Liberal cau-
cus retreat. Let's get real here. Let's talk about fairness. Let's have
Mr. Guy come before committee. He can sit next to Ms. Byrne,
who the Liberals want to have come to committee.

Mr. Guy employs the former director of caucus services and op-
erations for the Liberal research bureau—Ms. DeWolfe had a five-
year tenure—as well as other well-connected Liberals. Mr. Guy, as
the owner of Pollara, employs Dan Arnold, who is also a fixture at
taxpayer-funded Liberal caucus retreats.

This is Don Guy, the federal lobbyist, who sits in the room with
the Prime Minister, his cabinet, his caucus and these Liberal mem-
bers, behind closed doors, advising them and representing his
clients simultaneously. His clients are Airbnb, which the Liberals
have said made the housing crisis worse; CN Rail; the Canada
Bread company, which pleaded guilty to price-fixing; and Loblaws.
If we're getting fair, let's get fair, and let's have him come before the
committee.

® (1645)

Now, along with Mr. Guy, we should include Brian Topp. He is
the co-founding partner of GT and Co. Let's talk again about all of
those examples that I gave, about federal lobbying that's done by
that company—companies that have pleaded guilty of price-fixing,
companies the Liberals have accused of exacerbating the housing
crisis in our country and companies they've accused of gouging
consumers.

Who is Mr. Topp? Mr. Topp is a noted New Democrat, the for-
mer chief of staff to Rachel Notley. He has these connections. He is
the employer of that same former Liberal research bureau director
responsible for caucus services and operations.

Topp and Guy should be sitting in seats 15 and 16, and we can
save seat 17 for Ms. Byrne. Then, in seat 18, we should have Gur-
ratan Singh, because we know that the NDP leader has said that he
has him on his arm for media scrums and for advice, and that he's a
lobbyist for Metro. Metro barely gets a mention from the NDP
leader when he's talking about grocery giants. It's funny. I wonder
why we don't hear much mention of Metro. It's highly suspicious
indeed, some might say.

We want to see Topp, Guy, Singh and Ms. Byrne.

The difference, of course, with Ms. Byrne, is that she's the only
one who's not a federal lobbyist. However, they want to have her,
and they want it to be fair, so let's be fair. Let's have them come
here, and they can all appear on a panel together.

There are a couple of important points in this motion. These indi-
viduals don't come before the committee, the invitations are not to
be furnished to them, until we've had Mr. Carney appear, because
Mr. Carney's ducked committees before. It's not acceptable that we
don't have him come first.

If we're going to have the conversation about federal lobbying,
we can deal with the many issues and the many conflicts of interest
with carbon tax Carney—questionable practices with respect to lob-
bying. How did Brookfield get in the mix for what's going to be a
very lucrative time? How is it that their stock price hit six-month
highs, when one of their subsidiaries, the largest private mortgage
insurer in Canada, is going to benefit from a Liberal government
announcement.

All of these things happen. His buddy at Telesat is getting a $2-
billion loan for satellite Internet service that doesn't have any satel-
lites and isn't providing any Internet service. How did all of that
good fortune land on all of these people who just happen to be con-
nected to Mr. Carney in the hours that the ink's just drying on his
agreement to become the de facto finance minister after Justin
Trudeau's PMO said they didn't have confidence in Chrystia Free-
land, the Minister of Finance and Deputy Prime Minister? How did
that all come to happen?

What did Mr. Carney have to give up for that? Well, we've seen
that he's now sending out fundraising letters for the Liberals.

We hope to have support from other members. We wanted to talk
about fairness. This is fair. We're saying that the Conservative who
has been suggested ought to appear, alongside the federal Liberal
lobbyists who've been in the halls of power, who've been in the
rooms behind closed doors when decisions are getting made, when
strategy's being charted for the government and for their coalition
partner. That's incredibly important.

® (1650)

When we have someone like the chair of Brookfield Global, this
trillion-dollar, arch-capitalist everything company, we hope that we
can do whatever it takes. We hope we can count on the NDP to do
what it takes to bring Mr. Carney here to answer questions and an-
swer for how he's enriching his friends in exchange for raising
money for the Liberals. We hope the issue of fairness that was
raised by the Liberal members has been addressed here.

Let's see Topp, Guy and Singh, and we can have Ms. Byrne
alongside them, although she's not a federal lobbyist and they do
federal lobbying. Is that okay? I think there was a concern that they
were going to appear for less time than Mr. Carney, and I think
that's been addressed as well. We'll have that panel for two hours.
Those invitations will be sent out after Mr. Carney comes.

The most important thing isn't protecting people who share the
party affiliation. It's accountability and transparency. It's about
restoring Canadians' confidence.
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Let's put it plainly. We want carbon tax Carney here. The poison
pill the Liberals think they've put forward in having Ms. Byrne
come.... We'll make sure that the invitation is hand delivered. Will
they do the same with their strategists? Will the NDP do the same
with their strategists? Let's see.

Let's see who's interested in fairness and accountability for Cana-
dians and who's actually looking to circle the wagons and protect
their insiders, who have had that privileged access behind closed
doors while lobbying for their federal clients.

Let's see. The opportunity's here for everyone. They just need to
reach out and take it.

® (1655)
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barrett.

[Translation]

Mr. Cooper now has the floor.
[English]

Mr. Cooper, go ahead, please.

Mr. Michael Cooper (St. Albert—Edmonton, CPC): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair.

Picking up where Mr. Barrett left off with respect to the suba-
mendment, it is important that we hear from Don Guy and Brian
Topp for the reasons mentioned by Mr. Barrett.

However, I think it's important to reflect on how we got here in
the first place and why the need to bring forward this subamend-
ment came about. It came about because every single day there
seems to be more corruption, more conflict and more scandal from
arguably the most rotten and corrupt government in modern Cana-
dian history, if not Canadian history.

We have a prime minister who, unlike any prime minister in
Canadian history, has been found guilty not once but twice of
breaking Canada's ethics laws. He was found guilty of being in
conflicts of interest. Given that leadership starts at the top and the
culture of a government starts at the top, it's no wonder that we
have seen the kind of rot and corruption that has permeated this en-
tire Liberal government.

We now know that carbon tax Carney became “conflict Carney”
when the Prime Minister shamelessly appointed his rich pal, Car-
ney, to serve as the so-called chair of the Liberal Party's task force
on economic growth. It was very convenient for the Prime Minister
to appoint Mr. Carney chair of the Liberal Party's task force when
in fact he is essentially advising the Prime Minister on matters of
economic policy, and that was to avoid Mr. Carney being subject to
the Conflict of Interest Act and to avoid having to make disclosures
pursuant to that act with respect to his many conflicts.

What are some of those conflicts? Every day we seem to learn of
new conflicts.

By the way, about the title as chair of the Liberal Party's task
force, guess what? We found out that it is a one-person task force,
namely carbon tax Carney, also known as conflict Carney.

Speaking of those conflicts, almost immediately following his
appointment as the Prime Minister's adviser—evidently the Prime
Minister has lost confidence in his utterly incompetent finance min-
ister, Chrystia Freeland—we find out that the government raises the
threshold for insured mortgages from $1 million to $1.5 million.

What is the significance of that? It just so happens that carbon
tax Carney, also known as conflict of interest Carney, is the chair of
none other than Brookfield. Now, what is Brookfield? It is a multi-
national investment management company that owns Sagen, the
second-largest mortgage insurer.

Think about that. You have an adviser to the Prime Minister on
economic policy, and then upon his appointment the government,
just out of coincidence, raises the threshold for insured mortgages.
That adviser just happens to be the chair of Brookfield, the owner
of the second-largest mortgage insurer, and, of course, it resulted in
Brookfield benefiting richly from that decision. In fact, their stock
hit a six-month high. How convenient.

However, that's just scratching the surface of the conflicts, be-
cause shortly after that, carbon tax Carney and conflict of interest
Carney's close friend, who serves as CEO of Telesat, re-
ceived $2.14 billion in taxpayer-funded loans. That's interesting.

® (1700)

We find out that carbon tax Carney, also known as conflict of in-
terest Carney, is negotiating with the very government he is suppos-
edly advising. Well, according to the Prime Minister, he is not ad-
vising the government. He is not advising the Prime Minister. He is
somehow just advising the Liberal Party.

Everyone knows he is advising the government. He is advising
the Prime Minister, and he is the de facto finance minister.

We find out that he is negotiating with the very same govern-
ment—to do what? To shake down taxpayers, asking for $10 billion
in funds for Brookfield. There is conflict after conflict after con-
flict.

What is as bad is how arrogant this Prime Minister—along with
carbon tax Carney and conflict of interest Carney—has been, trying
to masquerade him as an adviser to the Liberal Party, thinking that
Canadians would be fooled by that. Of course, Canadians aren't
fooled by that. It is very plain for the eye to see. It is brazen, blatant
corruption and conflict. Conflict and corruption are out in the open.



October 3, 2024

ETHI-131 9

After nine years of this rotten and corrupt Prime Minister, the
government doesn't even try to hide the conflicts and corruption. It
can't; they're in plain sight. On that basis, we moved a motion to
hear from carbon tax Carney and conflict of interest Carney before
this committee. It's an appropriate committee; it's the ethics com-
mittee. It is a committee that deals with matters of conflicts of in-
terest to provide oversight and to see that the Conflict of Interest
Act is being enforced. It is to hold to account those public office
holders, ministers or other officials in this government who have
breached the act or have engaged in otherwise unethical activities. |
tell you, this committee is very busy because of all the work that
this government has given it.

I would like to hear—and it's important for this committee to
scrutinize Mr. Carney—how it is that the threshold for insured
mortgages was raised almost immediately after he was appointed
adviser to the Liberal Party. It was not when he was chair of Brook-
field. He could answer to the fact that his close friend just happened
to get $2 billion from the same government, again just after he was
appointed as economic adviser. He could explain how on the one
hand he is advising the Prime Minister, while on the other hand he
is negotiating $10 billion in taxpayers' funds for none other than
Brookfield. It is about as rotten as it gets. It's out in the open and
totally shameless.

What do the Liberals do when we bring forward a motion? It's
what they always do: They scramble. They huddle. They wait for
their talking points from the Prime Minister's Office. They come in
and they do everything they can to shield the Prime Minister and
his friends, including Mr. Carney, from accountability and scrutiny.

They bring forward an amendment that they thought was rather
clever to try to divert attention. They said, “Let's bring in Jenni
Byrne.” Well, why bring in Jenni Byrne? She's not a federal lobby-
ist. Her firm doesn't do any federal lobbying, but they want to hear
from Ms. Byrne.

I don't have a problem. Mr. Barrett and Mr. Caputo don't have a
problem. I don't think Ms. Byrne has a problem. I think the Liberals
will run out of questions very quickly, but maybe not. We'll hear
from her if that's what they want to do.

® (1705)

If Ms. Byrne is going to be called to appear, it is appropriate that
we hear from Gurratan Singh, given the fact that he is the brother of
the NDP leader, an adviser to the NDP leader, a former MPP and a
lobbyist for none other than Metro. The Liberals like to talk about
Loblaws. Well, that's fine, but we can also hear from a lobbyist for
Metro who just happens to be the adviser and brother to the leader
of the NDP.

Then there is Don Guy. Don Guy, just weeks ago, was meeting
behind closed doors at the Liberals' Nanaimo caucus retreat, stand-
ing in the same room with the captain of the Titanic himself, the
Prime Minister. He was, as The Canadian Press reported, called in
“to give his insights on how to mount a comeback”.

Boy, do they have a lot of work to do. I can't imagine what the
advice would be, other than to tell the Prime Minister to take a
hike.

In any event, Don Guy is someone who happens to be an adviser
to the Liberals and the Prime Minister. He was there behind closed
doors. He also happens to be the founding partner of GT, which,
unlike Ms. Byrne's firm, does extensive federal lobbying. It doesn't
do extensive federal lobbying for just anything: It lobbies for
Loblaws and the Canada Bread Company, which, as Mr. Barrett
noted, has pleaded guilty to price-fixing.

That's Don Guy. That's the Liberal Party adviser who employs
Julie DeWolfe, the former director of caucus services and opera-
tions at the Liberal research bureau. It's the same Don Guy who is
the owner of and chief strategist at Pollara, which employs Dan
Arnold, the Liberals' pollster. I think that's another interesting con-
nection.

Don Guy was also there advising the Prime Minister's ski buddy
and fake rapporteur David Johnston in his sham investigation into
foreign interference and the Prime Minister's efforts to cover up
Beijing's attack on our democracy in the 2019 and 2021 elections,
which benefited the Liberal Party.

It's not just me saying this: Madam Justice Hogue concluded that
Beijing's interference may have materially impacted the results in
certain ridings, including Steveston—Richmond East, where my
colleague Kenny Chiu was defeated as a consequence of disinfor-
mation spread by Beijing and amplified by the Liberal Party and
Justin Trudeau.

In short, Mr. Chair, this is a very reasonable amendment. We're
happy to hear from Ms. Byrne, but if Ms. Byrne is going to be in-
vited, there are far stronger and more compelling grounds to invite
other witnesses, such as Mr. Singh, Mr. Guy and Mr. Guy's busi-
ness partner, former NDP chief of staff Brian Topp. Let's hear from
all of them. Let's have them for two hours. There was an objection
about having one hour for Mr. Singh and one hour for Ms. Byrne,
so let's have them here for two hours.

However, really, the most important person we need to hear from
is Mr. Carney. He needs to come to committee to answer for all of
his conflicts. He needs to answer questions about exactly what his
role is within this government and why he is seeking to shield him-
self from scrutiny and from having to disclose his many conflicts.

I may have more to say, but I will leave it at that for now, Mr.
Chair.

® (1710)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Cooper.
[Translation]

Mr. Villemure, you have the floor.

Mr. René Villemure: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, but I'll
pass.

[English]
The Chair: I had Monsieur Berthold.

[Translation]

He was supposed to speak next, but he's not here right now.
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[English]

I'm going to Mr. Caputo, and then Mr. Cooper has his hand up
again.

Mr. Caputo, you have the floor.
Mr. Frank Caputo: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

It's always a pleasure to speak, both in the House of Commons
and at committee. Before I came to Parliament, I didn't realize how
important these committee meetings can be, so it is appreciated.

I want to pick up on what Mr. Cooper had to say.

So much of this is intertwined relationships. There are Liberals
who have relationships with other Liberals. There's one common
denominator. Do you know what that is? It's people getting rich off
the government. It's true.

Mr. Chair, when we think about this, you have somebody who is
already insanely wealthy. I'm not sure if anybody here knows Mark
Carney's net worth. I certainly don't, but I can guarantee it's proba-
bly a lot higher than mine and probably higher than that of every
single person in this room combined.

Here he is, advising the Prime Minister and the Liberal Party,
which is a party entitled to its entitlements and really defining the
hubris that goes along with that.

People just don't have enough. People are lining up at food banks
in my riding. They're having trouble paying their bills, yet we have
Liberals getting richer and richer. I know it's not in the motion, so I
won't speak to it for long, but I will be heading to the House of
Commons shortly today on the green slush fund. What is that
about? It's about Liberals helping Liberals get richer.

We need to get to the bottom of the conflicts of interest. It's bad
enough that it's got this far.

Frankly, I would love to hear from Mr. Carney about what he's
thinking, just from an interest point of view. This is somebody who
wants to be the Prime Minister—he's made no secret of that—yet
here he is, advising the government. He not only has a material in-
terest....

Typically, the appearance of an interest is enough. I think most
people would know that. Especially as lawyers, we have it drilled
into us. I think every parliamentarian is taught, or should be taught,
that where there is an appearance of a conflict, you have a de facto
conflict. By that, I mean you proceed as though there's a conflict
even if there isn't one, but there could be one. Just the appearance is
enough to say, “Okay. That's too much. That's enough.”

As Mr. Barrett and Mr. Cooper so eloquently laid out, you have
not only the appearance of a conflict but also what appears to be
fairly tangible evidence of a conflict, in that somebody is advising
the government at the same time they're negotiating contracts that
would personally benefit them. That is the very definition of a con-
flict of interest. It's somebody who could benefit based on their re-
lationships. That in itself is inherently problematic.

This is Canada. Our leader, Pierre Poilievre, often talks about the
have-nots versus the have-yachts. I know where the have-yachts

are. They seem to be at the Liberal convention. They seem to be at
the green slush fund, where they're talking about, “How do we get
more? Who's going to get more? Do you want more? How much
more? A million? Two million? Five million?”

People are lined up at food banks. People can't afford their rent
and there aren't enough houses for people to buy, yet we have Lib-
erals lining up to line their own pockets. If there is one place where
we are to address it, it should be here at the ethics committee.

That is why I am puzzled about why the Liberals here do not
want Mr. Carney in that chair. What are they so afraid of? The con-
flict of interest is so clear. I'm sure he's very bright. I'm sure he will
tell us all about it, if the Liberals agree to have him come, or per-
haps if this committee overrules them and decides that it is the right
thing.

If T were the Liberals, I would be saying, “I want this. Why do I
want it? Because I want to show that there might be smoke, but
there's no fire,” even though we know there is, because there are, at
the very least, the optics of a conflict.

® (1715)

When we have friends of rich Liberals who are now advising the
Prime Minister while negotiating and getting $2.5-billion contracts,
this is so obviously a conflict of interest. I don't know what could
be more the case. What do we need? We need Mr. Carney there sit-
ting in that seat.

It sure is lonely right now. It's an empty seat. Let's have him
there for a couple of hours, and he can tell us about this.

These are the other people that Mr. Barrett mentioned: Mr. Topp,
Mr. Guy and Ms. Byrne. None of them wants to be prime minister.
None of them are negotiating contracts with the Liberal govern-
ment. None of their friends, as far as we know, stand to get rich
from the government or are in the process of getting rich from the
government.

This is a government that promised to be open by default, which
is kind of ironic, because right now it is fighting a Speaker's ruling
about openness in Parliament. Why would we assume that it is do-
ing anything but that here? This isn't transparencys; it's opacity. This
government is opaque. Let's shed some light on it. Let's bring Mr.
Carney here.

We've agreed that Ms. Byrne should attend. I'm not sure that
they're going to hear very much. After all, she doesn't want to be
prime minister. She's not advising us as a special adviser to skirt
conflict of interest rules with the Liberal Party.

The Liberals could probably avoid this whole thing at the ethics
committee just by having Mr. Carney made subject to conflict of in-
terest rules or telling us—because they would not tell us during
question period, and this was asked multiple times—if his involve-
ment with the Liberal Party was cleared with the Commissioner of
Lobbying. That's pretty simple.
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Again, this is the open-by-default government, transparent by de-
fault: “Everything you want, we will get for you.” They won't even
answer a question about lobbying, a yes-or-no question. “No, we
dropped the ball, but we're doing it.” That's what they should say if
they haven't cleared it, and if they have, then tell us. If they had,
they would say yes, it was cleared by the Commissioner of Lobby-
ing. Sometimes they don't like the answer, so they don't answer the
question.

The government certainly didn't like the Speaker's ruling on the
SDTC. I don't think that they're going to like the answer that they
would get from the Commissioner of Lobbying, but who knows?
I'm sure they'd be more than willing to give up all of the informa-
tion, but there are so many questions to be answered and so many
things to be dealt with at this committee, yet here we are struggling
to get the transparency that we need by getting Mr. Carney right
there in seat 17.

I would welcome him, shake his hand and pour him a glass of
water, and then I and my Conservative colleagues would be happy
to ask a number of tough questions on behalf of Canadians, not for
political gain but because people have the right to know.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Caputo.

I have Mr. Cooper next on the list, and then Mr. Barrett.
® (1720)
Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Let me just say that I find it very interesting that every time the
question has been posed in the House—I believe Mr. Barrett posed
it more than once—as to whether the Prime Minister ran his ap-
pointment of Mr. Carney, supposedly as an adviser to the Liberal
party, past the Lobbying Commissioner....

The refusal of the Prime Minister and ministers in his govern-
ment to answer such a straightforward question provides the answer
to that question, which is that the Prime Minister didn't run Mr.
Carney by the Commissioner of Lobbying, presumably because he
would not have liked the answer from the lobbying commissioner.
It is almost a certainty that the appointment would not have been
given the green light. It wouldn't have been given the green light
because what the Prime Minister and Mark Carney—carbon tax
Carney, conflict of interest Carney—have done is set up an arrange-
ment that, at the end of the day, is the antithesis of open and ac-
countable government, which is what the Prime Minister touted
himself as championing upon being elected Prime Minister. It is the
antithesis of, I think, the standard that Canadians would expect.

It's not just anyone. We're talking about the former governor of
the Bank of Canada. We're talking about the former governor of the
Bank of England. Someone advising the Prime Minister on eco-
nomic policy and other matters ought to be subject to the Conflict
of Interest Act and ought to have their conflicts disclosed. The fact
that the Prime Minister has very conveniently shielded carbon tax
Carney, conflict of interest Carney, from that is problematic. That's
why we do need to hear from him.

I guess I understand why the Liberals are blocking our efforts
and why they want to change the channel. It's because they want to

talk about anything other than the conflicts of interest and corrup-
tion that surround Mr. Carney. However, as Mr. Caputo noted, the
entire agenda of the House of Commons has been sidelined because
of all of the corruption and scandals involving this government, not
only in relation to Mr. Carney but also in relation to their obstruc-
tion of a clear and unambiguous order of the House to turn over all
documents relating to the billion-dollar green slush fund, a scandal
that occurred under the watch of the Minister of Industry, a scandal
that the assistant deputy minister described in a secret audio record-
ing as the largest scandal since the sponsorship scandal.

Now there's another scandal, another finding of a prima facie
question of privilege involving the shady business partner, the Min-
ister of Employment, Randy Boissonnault, and his business partner
coming to committee and telling the committee that the Randy in
the text messages implicated in a half-million-dollar shakedown
was some other Randy, but very conveniently, when he was ordered
by this committee to identify that Randy, he refused to do so be-
cause everyone knows the Randy in the text messages, the Randy
involved in the half-million-dollar shakedown, the Randy in-
volved—

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: I have a point of order, Chair.

I feel like I've seen this movie before. I don't think it's on the
subamendment.

The Chair: We're going to move back to the subamendment if
we can, Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Michael Cooper: My point, Mr. Chair, is that it provides
some context to the fact that it's not just Mr. Carney, as serious as
that is. We're dealing with a government that, as I said in my earlier
submissions, is arguably the most corrupt government in modern
Canadian history, if not in all Canadian history. I will leave it at
that.
® (1725)

The Chair: Okay, thank you, Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Barrett, you are next, on your subamendment.
Mr. Michael Barrett: I'll yield my time.

The Chair: Okay.

I don't have anybody else on the list, so we're going to go to the
vote on the—

Ms. Iqra Khalid: I'm sorry, Chair, I just stepped out.
The Chair: Okay. I'm calling the vote.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Okay. [—

The Chair: No, I called the vote, Mrs. Shanahan. I'm sorry.

We're going to call the roll. Go ahead, Madam Clerk.
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The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Nancy Vohl): The vote is on
the subamendment moved by Mr. Barrett to the amendment moved
by Mr. Caputo.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Chair, I have a point of order.
Can we just read out the subamendment, please?

Some hon. members: No.
The Chair: We're on a vote, Mrs. Shanahan. I'm sorry.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: If you could do so, that would be
much appreciated.

The Chair: I called the vote. The vote is ongoing.

Go ahead, Clerk.

(Subamendment negatived: nays 5; yeas 4)

The Chair: We're now on the amendment by Mr. Caputo.
Do we have anybody on the amendment?

Monsieur Berthold, go ahead.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Berthold (Mégantic—L'Erable, CPC): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair.

I'm here today because I think it's extremely important to get to
the bottom of the relationship between Mr. Mark Carney and the
Liberal Party of Canada, particularly the relationship between
Mr. Carney, the Prime Minister, and several ministers in the Liberal
government.

At the moment, the House of Commons is completely paralyzed.
In fact, two questions of privilege have been referred to the House,
because the government refuses to submit to the orders of the
House. One of the questions of privilege relates to the tabling of
documents, again—it seems to me we've been through this before.

If I talk about the famous National Microbiology Laboratory in
Winnipeg, it will remind my colleagues of a few things. At the
time, the government refused to comply with an order of the House.
The president of the agency was summoned to the House, and they
refused to hand over the documents to the House. All this led to an
election.

The Liberal government was so afraid to reveal what might have
been in the documents we could have had in our hands that it pre-
ferred to call an election and spend tens of millions of Canadian
dollars rather than comply with a House order and turn these docu-
ments over to the House, which would have been simple.

What's going on right now in the House of Commons is very
reminiscent of the same thing. We're trying to shed light on the Lib-
eral Green Fund, the Liberals' green slush fund.

Let me remind you that, in this green slush fund affair, tens or
hundreds of millions of Canadian dollars were paid to Liberal insid-
ers. These people profited from this money because they were well-
connected with the managers of the green fund, who were appoint-
ed by the Prime Minister and his government.

We're talking about 186 green fund conflicts of interest
and $330 million paid to people who knew the right people. It turns
out that these good people knew other good people, appointed by
the Liberals. An amount of $330 million was paid although there
was a conflict of interest, and $50 million, or a little more, was paid
to companies that did not meet the basic criteria of the Green Fund
program. That's a lot of money. We're talking about near-
ly $400 million, which is eight times more than the sponsorship
scandal. It's easy to see why, when it comes to ethics and conflicts
of interest, the official opposition is not only cautious, but must al-
so do its job and hold the corrupt Liberal government to account.

If we're here, it's because we want Mr. Mark Carney to testify be-
fore the committee. He's not a household name in Quebec, although
he's a household name elsewhere. Mr. Carney is a man who is very
involved in international finance and has held very important posi-
tions. However, when I talk about Mr. Carney with the average citi-
zen, I don't usually get a big reaction, to be honest. And that's
what's most dangerous, not being interested in someone who holds
such an important position in a company. Mr. Carney is the presi-
dent of a company that manages billions of dollars—I don't mean
millions of dollars, I mean billions of dollars—and has investments
in just about everything. Basically, he's the president of a multitask-
ing company with ramifications all over the place.

® (1730

The Prime Minister has therefore appointed this person as chair
of his personal task force on the country's economic growth.

If he's managing billions of dollars, maybe he's been successful
in business. I have no idea. However, what I do know is that he has
a personal interest in billions of dollars.

Let me report what the Prime Minister said about Mark Carney.
He said that, as chair of the Leader's Task Force on Economic
Growth, “Mark's”—please note that he only used his first name—
unique ideas and perspectives would play a vital role in defining
the next steps in the Liberal Party's plan to continue growing our
economy and strengthening the middle class, as well as urgently
seizing new opportunities for Canadian jobs and prosperity in a
rapidly changing world.

That's quite a task. We know that the Liberal government has
hired 100,000 more public servants since 2015. Of those 100,000
public servants, it would appear that no one had the skills to advise
the Prime Minister on a plan to continue growing our economy.
This seems a little implausible to me. I can't believe that there was
no one, among all the senior civil servants and mandarins of the
state, capable of playing this role.
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Prime Minister Trudeau chose instead to go external. He called
his good friend Mark Carney to come and tell him what to do with
Canadians' money, because he was out of ideas. He didn't know
what to do. After nine years, he was drained. He had no capacity to
go any further. Above all, he wanted help from someone who
wasn't tied to the state.

Why? Why take on someone who has to submit to all the rules of
the state when you can choose someone who is completely free to
do what he wants? Mark Carney, the man who will be advising the
Prime Minister and, it seems, the entire Liberal government on the
future of the country, doesn't have to answer to anyone. He doesn't
have to abide by the rules on conflict of interest or lobbying.

This means he can continue to do business. What's more, if he
happens to give the Prime Minister advice that might benefit one of
his companies, why not? It could pay off.

Rules had been put in place after the government of former
Prime Minister Trudeau had been through this to avoid, precisely,
such conflicts of interest and people taking advantage of their office
and their special relationship with elected officials or ministers.
However, Mr. Carney will not have to abide by the rules of the Of-
fice of the Commissioner of Lobbying of Canada. He can therefore
continue to make a host of good suggestions to Mr. Trudeau with-
out being accountable to anyone and, above all, without anyone be-
ing able to know whether his advice will benefit him personally.

We're talking about a person who holds several offices and has
interests amounting to billions of dollars. I can guarantee you that if
this person continues to have both hands in the private and public
sectors, it will be extremely difficult to get to the bottom of what he
has done. That's why we put rules in place. That's why the lobbying
commissioner exists.

They'll tell us he's not a lobbyist. However, when you have direct
access to the Prime Minister, the Minister of Finance, the Minister
of Foreign Affairs and the Minister of Industry, my goodness, why
spend a dime on a lobbyist? The advice goes straight to the ears of
the person who's going to make the decision, based on the advice
that person is going to give.

Can't you see the magnitude of the situation?
® (1735)

I don't understand why anyone wouldn't want that. I don't under-
stand why members of Parliament would vote against asking Mr.
Carney these kinds of questions. I'm not talking through my hat, be-
cause, as luck would have it, on the very day Mr. Trudeau decided
to appoint Mr. Carney to head his personal task force on economic
prosperity, what did we learn? We learned that Mr. Carney's compa-
ny was working to secure not $50,000, not $50 million, but $50 bil-
lion in public money for one of his companies. That's $50 billion.
The very day he was appointed, we learned that his company was
lobbying to be able to manage $50 billion of Canadians' savings.
Wow!

Was anyone looking for proof? Was anyone looking to find out
why we should be asking questions? We have an obvious answer. It
all happened on the same day.

It seems that the share value of Mr. Carney's company, since his
appointment as Mr. Trudeau's personal adviser, has grown by leaps
and bounds. I don't have the figures, but my colleagues talked about
it today.

This is huge. It makes no sense. It's so big it's overflowing. I'm
sure our Bloc colleagues will understand how huge it is and will
support us so we can hear what Mr. Carney has to say. I'm sure they
will.

I'm a little surprised by the NDP's position on this. I wish we
could have had a clear vote from the NDP. Okay, they want to
broaden the debate, they want a lot of people to appear, when the
target, the objective we need to have is Mr. Carney, who is the
front-runner to succeed the Prime Minister right now.

Imagine what that means. He's the first in line. He's just waiting
for this corrupt Liberal government to fall so he can take the Prime
Minister's place. Are we going to replace a prime minister who has
twice been convicted of ethical breaches, who has contravened the
rules of ethics, who refuses to respond positively to the orders of
Parliament, with someone who, for the moment, has not broken any
rules of ethics, but who, at first glance and on the very day of his
appointment, seems to have taken exactly the same path? That's
what his company's investments and demands have shown us.

How come this isn't in the media more? Could someone please
explain to me why we're not all rending our garments, right now?

This is so big. In fact, maybe it's too big. When your nose is
glued to the window, you can only see a small corner. I think I'll
invite everyone to take a step back and look at what's happening
right now on Mark Carney's side. I'm not going to stop at Mr. Car-
ney's positions on political issues, like the carbon tax. I won't dwell
on it, but I'll say a few words anyway.

There are vested interests. Mark Carney has an interest in seeing
the government's carbon tax policy continue and expand. Mr. Car-
ney is in favour of making it more expensive for all Canadians. He
has both hands in the pot. He doesn't have to answer to anyone. It's
unbelievable.

Today my colleague Mr. Barrett wrote a letter to the Commis-
sioner of Lobbying. Indeed, we have many questions to ask. Since
we have so many, we can ask them in several places. We don't have
to wait as we move from one stage to another, and so on.

The Commissioner of Lobbying must quickly look into Mark
Carney's activities to see if there have been any breaches of the
Lobbying Act, any breaches of the Conflict of Interest Act.
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We have some questions. To what extent is Brookfield, Mr. Car-
ney's company, and all its subsidiaries aware of these possible
breaches of the Lobbying Act? This is a question we need to ask
the Commissioner of Lobbying. In fact, she's probably asking her-
self the same questions right now.

® (1740)

Mr. Chair, Mark Carney speaks regularly to the Prime Minister.
He's the godfather of someone in the immediate family of another
Liberal minister. He's very close to cabinet right now. I'm not mak-
ing this up. He can talk to the Prime Minister and all those people
any time he wants. He doesn't have to account for his meetings with
ministers or the Prime Minister.

When we meet lobbyists, each of us has to declare that they met
us, why and in what context it was done. But that's not the case
with Mark Carney. Why isn't it? I can't understand why the head of
such a large company, a company with so many tentacles, isn't held
to account.

What role does Mr. Carney currently play? He's literally taking
on the role of political adviser, but not just any political adviser; it's
more like the role of a senior political adviser. I say this because
Justin Trudeau himself has said that Mr. Carney's ideas and views
will play an essential role in defining the next steps. You don't give
such a role to a political attaché or an inexperienced political advis-
er. It's the role of a senior adviser to the Prime Minister's Office.

Mr. Chair, I'm sure that if you look in the Prime Minister's Office
staff directory, you won't find Mark Carney's name there. You
could even extend your search by looking into the personnel of the
Minister of Finance. You can look anywhere, Mr. Chair, and I'm
sure you'll never find Mark Carney's name, because he simply
doesn't want to be accountable to Canadians. He doesn't want to
hurt his companies, and he wants to take advantage of the special
relationship he currently has with the Prime Minister. It could end
there. But it doesn't. Not only does Mr. Carney advise the Prime
Minister, he also raises money for him. It's true. Mark Carney is a
fundraiser for the Liberal Party of Canada. Surely he's not saying
this Liberal government is corrupt when he speaks at these events.

He has sent a letter to Canadians, more specifically to Liberal
Party supporters, I hope. Because if he doesn't, he won't have much
success. In the letter, he said that this work is not possible without a
strong team and the support of Canadians, and that Justin Trudeau
and the team hope that, if they can, Canadians will help the Liberal
Party of Canada reach its $350,000 goal by midnight on September
29. Mr. Carney is a business leader, special adviser to the Prime
Minister and senior adviser to the Prime Minister. He does political
work. An ethicist could work for three years on this file alone to try
to untangle all this and try to understand it. So you can understand
why we're skeptical when it comes to Liberals and ethics.

I spoke earlier about the many scandals. Now I'll tell you about
one. This committee may have a unique opportunity to defuse a
scandal before it's too late and too costly for Canadians. But how?
First, we must hope that the Commissioner of Lobbying will listen
to the recommendations of my colleague Mr. Barrett, open an in-
quiry and ask Mr. Carney some questions. We also have a role to
play, and we must play it. We need to ask Mr. Carney these ques-
tions. The Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy

and Ethics has a very important role to play. Since the arrival of this
Liberal government, the members of the committee have been
working very hard, for many hours.

® (1745)

Mr. Chair, I don't think you'll be able to study and bring to light
all the Liberal government scandals before the end of the session.

It's part of the committee's role to welcome Mr. Carney, and we
should focus our efforts on that.

Like us, the NDP has a vested interest in shedding light on the
links between Justin Trudeau and Mr. Carney, who acts as a volun-
teer, financier, business leader and senior adviser to Justin Trudeau.

Mr. Chair, [ wanted to make this point today, because, as I said, if
we don't pay attention to Mr. Carney, he's going to rake it in. What's
more, he's going to do it unsupervised, unaccountable to anyone,
including commissioners, lobbyists and Parliament.

This committee has a unique opportunity to hold Mr. Carney to
account. For this reason, I implore all parties, even the Liberal Par-
ty, to do so. Don't you want to get to know your next leader better?

I think that's the best way to go. Invite him to appear before this
committee for two hours. Ask him all the questions you want. Then
you'll be able to determine whether or not the Liberals will continue
on.

As Mr. Trudeau says so often these days, they're going to keep
acting the same way, unless we want something else. This is your
chance to ask Mr. Carney some questions. Use them wisely to get
to know your next leader.

The same thing goes for the NDP and the Bloc Québécois. You
have to ask this person questions. God knows where he'll be tomor-
row, and God knows we have to stop this apparent conflict of inter-
est before it costs Canadians too much.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Berthold.

I cancelled my French lesson this morning, and it's good for me
to listen to French.

Mr. Luc Berthold: I can continue, if you like.
The Chair: No, that's fine. Thank you.
[English]

Mr. Barrett, you have the floor.
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Mr. Michael Barrett: Chair, [ mentioned earlier today that I had
taken to writing to the Commissioner of Lobbying of Canada be-
cause of the state of the government with the new de facto finance
minister. What we're seeing unfold is a cause for concern for us as
His Majesty's loyal opposition with what we believe is an avoid-
ance of oversight through the Prime Minister's decision to exempt
Mr. Carney from the obligations of a designated public office hold-
er, but also for the many examples that we've raised, and I'm going
to get into them. For instance, there's the blatant advantage that the
company of which he is the chair of suddenly received in the hours
after Mr. Carney was appointed.

The subamendment that I moved to have Mr. Guy, Mr. Topp and
Mr. Singh appear as witnesses as well was born out of the question
of fairness that was raised by the Liberals, so—

® (1750)

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: I have a point of order, Chair. Are we
still on the subamendment or have we moved to the amendment?
Just to clarify.

Mr. Michael Barrett: If you follow along, I can help. If you lis-
ten, I can help you if you follow along.

The Chair: I think Mr. Barrett will probably get to where he
needs to go on the amendment.

Go ahead, Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I think I was just saying how the Liberals
can't help but fall all over themselves when they whined about
wanting fairness, but then when the opportunity was given, they
scurried right back into the hole. It's not surprising. It's not surpris-
ing because this is what we've seen after nine years of the most cor-
rupt government that this country's ever seen.

I think Mr. Cooper was right when he put it that we've seen that
with Justin Trudeau being found guilty of breaking the law twice.
This is while serving as Prime Minister.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Obstructing RCMP investigations....

Mr. Michael Barrett: That's right; it was obstructing investiga-
tions and hiding behind cabinet confidence. Here we have the same
occurring.

I would have hoped that we'd see that this was a genuine ask by
the Liberals for fairness, but it's never about fairness. It's always
about enriching their friends. That's what they're doing. That's what
they're looking to do today.

You would hope that, as I said before, when you have a subject
like Mr. Carney as the example, and you have people who are rep-
ping companies that have pleaded guilty to price-fixing on food
during a cost of living crisis, you could have expected that the NDP
would have supported that in fairness—talking about fairness for
people, fairness for people who need help—but the “yes” votes
didn't come from those who were seeking fairness. That's not what
the Liberals are about.

The letter I wrote to the lobbying commissioner lays out the real
and apparent conflicts, because it can be seen, reasonably, that
there's a sense of obligation towards a lobbyist. It details all of that.

First, though, I want to pick up on one thing Mr. Cooper said
about Mr. Carney—that he's the head of a task force of one. I'm
sure he's a difficult man to manage, but they found the right man
for the job.

It's not about leading a task force. It's not about leading a group
of people. It's about introducing a successor to a Prime Minister
who is just.... As it was rightly put, it's about replacing the captain
of the Titanic. Why Mr. Carney wants to take that on as the SS Lib-
eral sails into the iceberg, I'm not sure. We heard that he's a real ex-
pert, as the Liberals say. Well, why won't you take expert advice?
For anyone who joins that team at this point, all of their judgment
has just been called into question. That's a question for Mr. Carney
as well that would have to be asked.

Look, the Liberals have shown themselves for who they are.
When we look at the options put in front of the committee today to
have people come before committee to see what we could learn
from the registered federal lobbyists—the lobbying shop owners
who are inside behind the closed doors of the Liberal caucus
room—it's interesting that the decision they took was to not support
the motion. They voted it down.

What does that tell Canadians? It tells them that while Justin
Trudeau promised to have the most open government by default,
he's done anything but that. We've seen that over my time at the
Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics.
Not only did they intentionally break the access to information sys-
tem; they used things like cabinet confidence to shield the Prime
Minister from criminal investigations into him and his conduct. Un-
der the Criminal Code we talk about, we've cited the Conflict of In-
terest Act. He's been found to have broken that law twice. When he
was faced with an RCMP investigation for his conduct, he invoked
cabinet confidence.

Now the wheels have ground to a halt in the House, because a
majority of democratically elected members of Parliament voted
that the government must turn over documents related to their green
slush fund scandal. That's hundreds of millions of dollars going to
Liberal insiders, overseen by a Liberal-appointed board chair who
was found guilty of breaking the same laws as the Prime Minister.
They're not doing it. They're refusing the will of the majority of
democratically elected members of the House. That's their legacy.
The Liberal members of the committee have taken that lesson from
their government and put it on display here.

The amendment that we have to deal with is to deal with Mark
Carney. It's to deal with this gentleman who is not registered to lob-
by federally but who somehow fell into great fortune.

® (1755)

Through his role as chair of Brookfield, this trillion-dollar mega-
company's stock prices hit a six-month high because of decisions
that the Prime Minister he is advising took immediately after he
was hired as the Prime Minister's adviser.
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The Chair: Mr. Barrett, I'm sorry to interrupt. As much as [ have Mr. Bains, we will make every attempt to have that witness ap-
enjoyed today, unfortunately, we have run out of resources. pear next week.

Before I adjourn, I will let everybody know that we will be hav-
ing witnesses as we continue with our disinformation and misinfor-

mation study. This meeting is adjourned.
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